

<b>National Imaging Associates, Inc.*</b>	
<b>Clinical guidelines:</b> <b>SHOULDER ARTHROSCOPY</b>	<b>Original Date: August 2016</b>
<b>CPT Codes**:</b> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>- Shoulder Rotator Cuff Repair: 23410, 23412, 23420, 29827</li> <li>- Shoulder Labral Repair: 23450, 23455, 23460, 23462, 23465, 23466, 29806, 29807</li> <li>- Frozen Shoulder Repair/Adhesive Capsulitis: 29825, 23700</li> <li>- Shoulder Surgery Other: 23120, 23125, 23130, 23405, 23415, 23430, 23700, 29805, 29819, 29820, 29821, 29822, 29823, 29824, 29825, +29826, 29828</li> </ul> <p><i>**See UM Matrix for allowable billed groupings and additional covered codes</i></p>	<b>Last Revised Date: <del>November 2020</del> <u>May 2022</u></b>
<b>Guideline Number: NIA_CG_318</b>	<b>Implementation Date: January <del>2023</del></b>

### General Requirements for Elective Surgery of the Shoulder

Elective surgery of the shoulder may be considered if the following general criteria are met:

- There is clinical correlation of individual patient's subjective complaints with objective exam findings and/or imaging (when applicable)
- Individual Patient has limited function (age-appropriate activities of daily living (ADLs), occupational, athletic)
- Individual Patient is medically stable and optimized for surgery with no uncontrolled comorbidities (such as diabetes)
- Individual Patient does not have an active local or systemic infection
- Individual Patient does not have active, untreated drug dependency (including but not limited to narcotics, opioids, muscle relaxants) unless engaged in a treatment program
- A smoking cessation program is highly recommended and should be instituted pre-operatively for all actively smoking patients<sup>1,2</sup> (~~Bishop, 2015; Santiago-Torres, 2015~~)

\* National Imaging Associates, Inc. (NIA) is a subsidiary of Magellan Healthcare, Inc.

Clinical notes should address:

- Symptom onset, duration, and severity
- Loss of function and/or limitations
- Type and duration of non-operative management modalities (where applicable)

Non-operative management, when required, will be specified within the clinical indications below and may include one or more of the following:

- Physical therapy or properly instructed home exercise program
- Rest or activity modification
- Application of heat or ice
- Minimum of 4 weeks of oral NSAIDs (if not medically contraindicated)
- Single injection of corticosteroid and local anesthetic into subacromial or intra-articular space, or bicipital groove

## INDICATIONS

### **DIAGNOSTIC SHOULDER ARTHROSCOPY**

Diagnostic arthroscopy is considered medically necessary:

For the evaluation of a painful shoulder prior to total shoulder arthroplasty<sup>3-6</sup>

### **OR**

When **All** of the following criteria have been met:

- Severe, disabling pain and/or a documented loss of shoulder function which interferes with the ability to carry out age-appropriate activities of daily living and/or demands of employment
- Individual demonstrates **any** of the following abnormal, shoulder physical examination findings, as compared to the non-involved side:
  - Functionally limited range of motion (active or passive)
  - Measurable loss in strength
  - Positive impingement signs
- Failure of non-surgical management for at least three-12 weeks(3) months duration to include **TWO** of the following:
  - Rest or activity modifications/limitations
  - Ice/heat
  - Use of a sling/immobilizer/brace

- Pharmacologic treatment: oral/topical NSAIDS, acetaminophen, analgesics, tramadol
- Physical therapy modalities
- Supervised home exercise

○ ~~Corticosteroid injection~~

- Individual has undergone an appropriate radiographic work-up that includes routine ~~x~~-rays and an MRI evaluation which are determined to be inconclusive for internal derangement/pathology
- Other potential diagnostic conditions have been excluded, including, but not limited to, fracture, ~~t~~Thoracic ~~o~~Outlet ~~s~~Syndrome, ~~b~~Brachial ~~p~~Plexus disorders, referred neck pain and arthritis

**NOTE:** The following is not managed by Magellan:

- In-office diagnostic arthroscopy (e.g., Mi-Eye, VisionScope)<sup>7</sup> ~~(Zhang 2019)~~

### **ROTATOR CUFF REPAIR (RCR)**

Surgical treatment of ~~a~~ rotator cuff tear (RCT) should only be performed when there is a clinical correlation of ~~patient~~-symptoms, clinical exam findings, imaging, and failed non-operative management (where required).<sup>8-10</sup> ~~(Harris, 2012; Okoroha, 2017).~~

**NOTE:** ~~ote~~— See section on subscapularis tears

### **Partial-Thickness Rotator Cuff Tear or Calcific Tendinitis\***

Surgical repair of ~~a~~ ~~p~~Partially ~~t~~Torn ~~r~~Rotator ~~c~~Cuff may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- Reproducible rotator cuff pain patterns (lateral arm, deltoid pain rarely radiating past the elbow, night pain, or pain with overhead motions)
- Positive impingement signs and/or tests on exam (Hawkins, Neer, Jobe test or reproducible pain when arm is positioned overhead (above plane of shoulder) with relief of pain when arm is repositioned below the plane of the shoulder)<sup>11</sup> ~~(Hedegus, 2012)~~
- Functional loss (age-appropriate activities of daily living (ADLs), occupational, athletic)
- MRI or ~~u~~Ultrasound<sup>12,13</sup> ~~(Apostolopoulos, 2019; Kruse 2019)~~ that demonstrates a partial thickness tear (articular-sided, concealed, or bursal-sided) or evidence of calcific tendinitis\*\*
- Failure of at least 12 weeks of non-operative treatment, including **at least two three** of the following criteria<sup>14-17</sup> ~~(Pedowitz, 2011)~~:

- Physical therapy or properly instructed home exercise program
- Rest or activity modification
- Minimum of 4 weeks of oral NSAIDs (if not medically contraindicated)
- No cortisone injection within 12 weeks prior to surgery.<sup>18-26</sup>

- 

- ~~Single injection of corticosteroid and local anesthetic into subacromial or intra-articular space~~

~~\*For surgical excision of calcific tendinopathy, at least one prior cortisone injection is required~~

- ~~No cortisone injection within 12 weeks prior to surgery.<sup>18-26</sup>~~

**NOTE:** The following is not managed by Magellan:

- US-guided percutaneous debridement or tenotomy (e.g., Tenex, TenJet)

### **Small (< 1 cm), Full-Thickness Rotator Cuff Tear**

Surgical repair of a **small full-thickness rotator cuff tear** may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- Reproducible rotator cuff pain patterns (lateral arm, deltoid pain not radiating past the elbow, night pain, or pain with overhead motions)
- Positive impingement signs and/or tests on exam (Hawkins, Neer, Jobe test or reproducible pain when arm is positioned overhead (above plane of shoulder) with relief of pain when arm is repositioned below the plane of the shoulder)
- Functional loss (age-appropriate activities of daily living (ADLs), occupational, athletic)
- Rotator cuff weakness or severe pain with rotator cuff testing on physical exam
- MRI or Ultrasound<sup>12,13</sup> ~~(Apostolopoulos, 2019; Kruse, 2019)~~ that demonstrates a small, full thickness tear (< 1 cm)
- Failure of at least 6 weeks of non-operative treatment\*, including physical therapy or a properly instructed home exercise program (that includes exercises for scapular dyskinesis when present) **AND** ~~at least ONE~~ one of the following:
  - Rest or activity modification
  - Minimum of 4 weeks of oral NSAIDs (if not medically contraindicated)
  - No cortisone injection within 12 weeks prior to surgery.<sup>18-26</sup>  
~~Single injection of corticosteroid and local anesthetic into subacromial or intra-articular space~~  
  
No cortisone injection within 12 weeks prior to surgery.

\***NOTE:** The requirement for conservative, non-operative treatment is waived in individuals ~~patient~~ less than age 55 with an acute traumatic tear (onset of shoulder pain attributed to a specific traumatic event with no prior history of significant shoulder pain). For ages > 55, non-operative treatment may be waived on a case-by-case basis.

~~Surgical Management Moderate evidence supports that healed rotator cuff repairs show improved patient reported and functional outcomes compared with physical therapy and unhealed rotator cuff repairs<sup>27</sup> (Weber, 2019)~~

### **Medium (1-3 cm) or Large (3-5 cm), Full-Thickness Rotator Cuff Tear**

Surgical repair of a **medium or large full-thickness rotator cuff tear** may be necessary when the following criteria are met:

- Significant progression of a full-thickness tear on serial imaging performed at least [12 weeks](#)~~3 months~~ apart (at least 50% increase in tear size)

**OR**

- When **ALL** of the following criteria are met:
  - Reproducible rotator cuff pain patterns (lateral arm, deltoid pain rarely not radiating past the elbow, night pain, or pain with overhead motions)
  - Positive impingement signs and/or tests on exam (Hawkins, Neer, Jobe, empty can or drop-arm test or reproducible pain when arm is positioned overhead (above plane of shoulder) with relief of pain when arm is repositioned below the plane of the shoulder)
  - Rotator cuff weakness or severe pain with rotator cuff testing on physical exam
  - Functional loss (age-appropriate activities of daily living (ADLs), occupational or athletic)
  - MRI or [ultrasound](#)<sup>12,13</sup> (~~Apostolopoulos, 2019; Kruse, 2019~~) results support a medium (1-3 cm) or large (3-5 cm), full-thickness tear (tear must be a complete single tendon or greater)
  - [No cortisone injection within 12 weeks prior to surgery.](#)<sup>18-26</sup>

**Massive (> 5 cm and ≥ 2 tendons involved), Full-Thickness Rotator Cuff Tear**

Surgical repair of a **massive torn rotator cuff** **WITH OR WITHOUT** a [superior capsular reconstruction](#) may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met<sup>27-30</sup> (~~Denard, 2018; Henry, 2015; Shon, 2015; Weber, 2019~~):

- MRI or [ultrasound](#)<sup>12,13</sup> (~~Apostolopoulos, 2019; Kruse, 2019~~) demonstrates massive (> 5 cm), full-thickness tears (with intact or reparable subscapularis tendon for superior capsular reconstruction)
- MRI demonstrates no advanced fatty changes (Goutallier stage 0 (normal muscle), 1 (some fatty streaks), or 2 (less than 50% fatty degeneration or infiltration)<sup>31-33</sup> (~~Chung, 2013; Khair, 2016; Somerson, 2016~~)
- Warner classification of atrophy "none" or "mild"<sup>34,35</sup> (~~Naimark, 2019; Warner, 2001~~)
- No x-ray evidence of chronic subacromial articulation of the humeral head, defined as an acromiohumeral space less than 5 mm (Hamada grade 2)<sup>29,36,37</sup> (~~Brolin, 2017; Denard, 2018; Hamada, 2011~~).
- No advanced or severe arthritis (severe narrowing of glenohumeral space or bone-on-bone articulation, large osteophytes, subchondral sclerosis, or cysts, etc.)

- No cortisone injection within 12 weeks prior to surgery.<sup>18-26</sup>

**NOTE:** AAOS consensus guidelines state that partial repair and superior capsular reconstruction, can improve patient reported outcomes.<sup>27</sup>

### **Subscapularis Tears**

Surgical repair of a subscapularis rotator cuff tear may be necessary when the following criteria are met:<sup>38-45</sup>

- History of an acute injury or chronic complaints of anterior shoulder pain, weakness, or functional impairment
- Positive physical examination findings of subscapularis deficiency – lift-off, bear-hug, belly press test, etc.
- MRI demonstrates a significant partial thickness tear (at least 50% of tendon), full-thickness tear, or any tear associated with subluxation of the biceps tendon.
- No cortisone injection within 12 weeks prior to surgery.<sup>18-26</sup>

**NOTE:** AAOS consensus guidelines state that partial repair and superior capsular reconstruction, can improve patient reported outcomes (Weber, 2019).<sup>27</sup>

**AN ISOLATED SUPERIOR CAPSULAR RECONSTRUCTION MAY BE NECESSARY WHEN ALL OF THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA ARE MET**<sup>46-53</sup>:

(Burkart, 2020; Frank, 2018; Galvin, 2019; Hartzler, 2016; Mihata, 2019; Ohta, 2020; Smith, 2021; Tokish, 2020)

- MRI or ultrasound<sup>12,13</sup> ~~(Apostolopoulos, 2019; Kruse, 2019)~~ demonstrates massive (> 5 cm), full-thickness tears with an intact or reparable subscapularis tendon.
- No x-ray evidence of chronic subacromial articulation of the humeral head, defined as an acromiohumeral space less than 5 mm (Hamada grade 2)<sup>29,36,37</sup> ~~(Brolin, 2017; Denard, 2018; Hamada, 2011)~~
- No advanced or severe arthritis (severe narrowing of glenohumeral space or bone-on-bone articulation, large osteophytes, subchondral sclerosis, or cysts, etc.)

**NOTE: A CONCOMITANT ROTATOR CUFF REPAIR IS NOT ALLOWABLE WITH ADVANCED GOUTALLIER OR WARNER MUSCLE ATROPHY CHANGES AS NOTED IN THE PREVIOUS SECTION.**

### **Rotator Cuff Repair (RCR) Revision**

Surgical revision within 1 year of a previously repaired small, medium, large or massive torn rotator cuff will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis and must include an MRI (with or without arthrogram) or CT arthrogram that demonstrate failure of healing (Sugaya type 4-5, see background section) or recurrent tear > 12 weeks~~3 months~~ after index surgery ~~(Strauss, 2012)~~.<sup>54</sup>

All RCR revision cases greater than 1 year following an initial repair must again meet indications as specified by tear size listed in Background section.

**Contraindications** (applies to all rRotator cCuff rRepair):

- Active infection (local or remote)
- Treatment of asymptomatic, full thickness rotator cuff tear
- Active systemic bacteremia
- Deltoid or rotator cuff paralysis
- Advanced or severe arthritis (severe narrowing of glenohumeral space or bone-on-bone articulation, large osteophytes, subchondral sclerosis, or cysts, etc.)
- No cortisone injection within 12 weeks prior to surgery.<sup>18-26</sup>

## **LABRAL REPAIRS**

### **Repair of Superior Labral Anterior-Posterior (SLAP) Tear**

Surgical indications should be focused on clinical symptoms and failure to respond to non-operative treatments, rather than imaging (due to a higher percentage of tears being missed on images AND significant over-diagnosing of tears based on imaging-alone).

Repair (*not debridement of a SLAP lesion*) may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- History compatible with tear (acute onset in thrower or overhead athlete, fall, traction injury, shear injury (MVA), lifting injury)
- Pain localized to the glenohumeral joint (often only associated with certain reaching or lifting activities and at night) or painful catching/popping/locking sensations
- Inability to perform desired tasks without pain (age-appropriate ADLs, sports, occupation)
- Physical examination demonstrates findings of a SLAP tear (active compression test (O'Brien test), compression rotation test, clunk or crank test, etc.)





Bankart repair for **recurrent (two or more episodes of subluxation or dislocation) associated with a labral tear** may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met<sup>62</sup> ~~(Harris, 2013):~~

- Recurrent instability (subluxation or dislocation)
- Evidence of a labral tear with or without bony Bankart fracture of the glenoid upon imaging
- Range of motion is not limited by stiffness upon physical exam - (not required if there has been a recent episode of instability)
- Clinical exam findings demonstrate positive apprehension test, positive relocation test, positive labral grind test, or objective laxity with pain.

#### Contraindications:

- Pain only (no documented recurrent instability events) in individual patients over 40
- X-ray, MRI, or CT documentation of significant degenerative arthritis of the glenohumeral joint
- Radiographic findings of a Hill Sachs humeral head defect (if surgery only includes Bankart repair); (see below indications for Latarjet and/or remplissage procedure)

Latarjet or Remplissage procedures for **recurrent (two or more episodes of subluxation or dislocations)** may be necessary when ALL of the following criteria are met<sup>63-75</sup> ~~(Alkaduhimi, 2019; Bhatia, 2014; Bishop, 2019; DiGiacomo, 2014; Dyrna, 2020; Hurley, 2019; Maio, 2019; Milano, 2011; Moroder, 2019; Rashid, 2016, 2018; Werthel, 2020; Yang, 2016):~~

- Recurrent anterior dislocations ~~instability (subluxation or dislocation)~~
- Evidence of an a large, engaging (“off-track”)\* Hill-Sachs lesion of the humerus, ~~or~~ or greater than 20% glenoid bone loss by ~~xX~~ ray, CT, or MRI.
- Range of motion is not limited by stiffness upon physical exam - (not required if there has been a recent episode of instability)
- ~~Clinical exam findings demonstrate positive apprehension test, positive relocation test, positive labral tests grind test, or objective laxity with pain.~~

\*

The glenoid track, a zone of dynamic contact during arm elevation, is a unique biomechanical model that uses both glenoid and humeral head bone loss to predict subsequent risk of humeral head engagement and possible dislocation. An *engaging* Hill-Sachs bony defect, or “off-track” lesion, is one in which the width of the bony defect is greater than the width of the glenoid track. Off-track engagement occurs when the medial margin of the Hill-Sachs defect engages the glenoid track. If there is bony loss of the glenoid as well, the glenoid track will proportionately be less, causing greater risk of engagement. A *nonengaging*, or “on-track” Hill-

Sachs lesion is one in which the width of the bony defect is less than the width of the glenoid track. Using preoperative CT or MR imaging, the glenoid track can identify individual patients who are more likely to fail only a primary capsuloligamentous Bankart repair. Glenoid track evaluation shows that restoring the track (glenoid) to its normal width should be the first priority in restoring shoulder stability.<sup>76-83</sup>



### **Posterior Labral Tear**

Surgical repair of a posterior labral tear may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- Symptoms of pain OR painful catching/popping OR instability
- MRI findings of posterior labral tear
- Exam findings demonstrate positive load-shift test, jerk test, glenohumeral grind test, or objective laxity with pain or profound weakness<sup>84</sup> (Kibler, 2015)
- Failure of at least 12 weeks of non-operative treatment (unless presenting as a traumatic tear in a competitive athlete at any level) that includes any **two** of the following:
  - Physical therapy or a properly instructed home exercise program
  - Rest or activity modification
  - Minimum of 4 weeks of oral NSAIDs (if not medically contraindicated)
- Age < 40
- No radiographic evidence of degenerative disease (e.g., posterior glenoid cartilage loss, subchondral glenoid cysts, mucoid degeneration of labrum, narrowing of joint space with posterior humeral head subluxation on axillary x-ray or axial MRI images)

### **Combined Labral Tears (e.g., Anterior / Posterior, SLAP / Anterior, SLAP / Posterior, SLAP / Ant. / Post.)<sup>85</sup> (Forsythe, 2015)**

Surgical repair of an **acute combination tear** may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- History of an acute event of instability (subluxation or dislocation)
- Acute labral tear on MRI/CT imaging with/without bony Bankart fracture not > 25% of glenoid width upon imaging
- Age < 30
- Range of motion not limited by stiffness upon physical exam
- Clinical exam findings demonstrate positive apprehension test and positive relocation test, **OR** positive labral grind test OR objective laxity with pain

- Minimal to no evidence of degenerative changes on imaging

Surgical repair of **recurrent combination tear** may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- Recurrent instability (subluxation or dislocation) with at least 2 instability events
- Labral tear on MRI or CT, with/without bony Bankart fracture not > 25% of glenoid width upon imaging
- Range of motion not limited by stiffness upon physical exam
- Clinical exam findings demonstrate positive apprehension test and positive relocation test, or positive labral grind test, or objective laxity with pain
- Minimal to no evidence of degenerative changes on imaging

### **Open or Arthroscopic Capsulorrhaphy for Multidirectional Instability of the Shoulder (MDI)**

Surgical repair for MDI may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- [Individual Patient](#) has pain and limited function (age-appropriate ADLs, occupation, or sports)
- [Individual Patient](#) has recurrent instability due to hyperlaxity or mobility and no traumatic dislocation
- Physical exam supports repeatable increased glenohumeral joint translation (greater than 1 cm of movement during the sulcus test);
- Imaging (x-ray and MRI) rules out fracture and/or other soft-tissue injury
- Failure of at least 6 months of formal physical therapy and activity modification

### **Adhesive Capsulitis (Lysis of Adhesions, Capsulotomy/Capsular Release or Manipulation under Anesthesia)**

Surgery for adhesive capsulitis may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- [Individual Patient](#) has pain, loss of motion, and limited function (age-appropriate ADLs, occupation, or sports)
- Physical exam demonstrates loss of motion (use contralateral shoulder for comparison)
- Co-morbidities (such as diabetes, lung disease), and other causes of loss of shoulder motion have been ruled out;
- Failure of at least 12 weeks of non-operative treatment that includes physical therapy or a properly instructed home exercise program and documentation of **any one** of the following:

- Minimum of 4 weeks of oral or topical NSAIDs (if not medically contraindicated)
- Rest or activity modification
- Heat/Ice
- Corticosteroid injection

### **Distal Clavicle Excision (DCE)**

Distal Clavicle Excision may be necessary when **ALL** of the following criteria are met<sup>86</sup> ~~(Pensak, 2010)~~:

- Positive clinical exam findings as evidenced by pain upon palpation over AC joint and/or pain with cross-body adduction test
- Positive findings on ~~x~~X-Ray or MRI<sup>87</sup> ~~(Singh, 2018)~~:
  - Radiographic (x-ray) demonstrates narrowed joint space, distal clavicle or medial acromial sclerosis, and/or osteophytes or cystic degeneration of distal clavicle or medial acromion correlating with the clinical findings, patient symptoms and diagnosis; **OR** MRI findings with edema in the distal clavicle and/or inflammatory change within the joint space correlating with the clinical findings, patient symptoms and diagnosis
- Failure of at least 12 weeks of non-operative treatment that includes **at least two** of the following:
  - Minimum of 4 weeks of oral or topical NSAIDs (if not medically contraindicated)
  - Rest or activity modification
  - AC joint corticosteroid injection (if DCE is to be performed as a standalone procedure, AC injection must be performed\*)
  - Physical therapy or a properly instructed home exercise program

**\*NOTE:** If DCE is to be performed *in isolation of other shoulder procedures*, an AC joint injection is required for diagnostic purposes and documentation should support pain relief from injection. If no response to injection, this is a strong negative predictor to surgical outcome for isolated DCE.

### **Long Head Biceps (LHB) Tenotomy/Tenodesis**

The indications and outcomes for tenodesis and tenotomy are the same<sup>38,88,89</sup> with the exception that tenodesis is typically better for more active, muscular individuals that are performing higher-demand activities for work or sport. Tenotomy is often preferred in individual patients that smoke (this is a relative indication of tenotomy over tenodesis) due to healing problems in tenodesis.

Tenotomy or tenodesis may be necessary when the following criteria are met<sup>38,55,90,91</sup> ~~(Chalmers 2016; Creech, 2016; Erickson, 2015)~~:

- **Any of the following:**

- When performed in conjunction with a total shoulder arthroplasty
- When performed in conjunction with a subscapularis tendon repair
- Age > 50 with SLAP tear
- Smoker with SLAP labral tear (regardless of age, more significant with increasing age)
- Failed SLAP repair
- SLAP tear in diabetic or individual patient with loss of motion or predisposition to stiff shoulder
- LHB hypertrophy/tearing/subluxation in association with RCR

**OR**

- Diagnosis of chronic LHB groove pain from tenosynovitis\*
- **AND**
  - Failure of at least 12 weeks of non-operative treatment to include **TWO** of the following:
    - Minimum of 4 weeks of oral or topical NSAIDs (if not medically contraindicated)
    - Rest or activity modification
    - Bicipital groove ~~or IA joint~~ corticosteroid injection
    - Physical therapy or a properly instructed home exercise program

**NOTE:** The following is not managed by Magellan:

- US-guided percutaneous debridement or tenotomy (e.g., Tenex, TenJet)

### Loose Body Removal

Loose body removal may be medically necessary when the following criteria are met:

- Documentation of pain, mechanical symptoms (catching or locking), stiffness, loss of motion, feelings of instability or loss of function
- X-ray, CT, or MRI documentation of a loose body

### Synovectomy

Synovectomy as an isolated procedure is usually reserved for primary synovial disease or in cases where secondary hypertrophic synovitis is documented during arthroscopy (these include adhesive capsulitis, osteoarthritis, chronic rotator cuff tear). These should be evident on

arthroscopic photographs taken at surgery but may be missed on preoperative images ~~(Kanbe, 2015).~~<sup>92</sup>

### **Subacromial Decompression (SAD)**

Subacromial decompression may be necessary **in conjunction with** other shoulder procedures (listed below) if there is radiographic (x-ray) evidence of mechanical outlet impingement as evidenced by a Bigliani type 3 morphology. Subacromial decompression should not be performed in isolation ~~(Familiari, 2015; Frank, 2014).~~<sup>93,94</sup>

- Rotator cuff repair
- Labral repair
- Capsulorrhaphy
- Loose body removal
- Synovectomy
- Debridement
- Distal clavicle excision
- Lysis of adhesions
- Biceps tenodesis/tenotomy

### **Contraindications:**

- Type 1 or Type 2 or a thinned acromion. Subacromial bursectomy may be a reasonable option.
- If individual patient has received an injection in the subacromial space and there is failure to adequately respond—significant relief (>50%) for minimum of 1 week—to injection in the subacromial space (pain should respond temporarily if impingement)
- Prior subacromial decompression with either a Type 1 or a thinned acromion or no evidence of overhang on x-ray (unnecessary revision can thin the acromion and lead to deltoid avulsion and/or acromial fracture)
- Open SAD procedures should rarely be performed given the increased morbidity due to deltoid disruption.

---

### **BACKGROUND:**

This guideline addresses the following elective, non-emergent, arthroscopic shoulder repair procedures:

- Rotator Cuff Repair
- Labral Repairs
- Lysis of Adhesions (Capsulotomy)
- Distal Clavicle Excision (DCE)
- Long Head Biceps (LHB) Tenotomy or Tenodesis
- Loose body removal

- Synovectomy
- Subacromial Decompression (SAD)

Arthroscopy introduces a fiber-optic camera into the shoulder joint through a small incision for diagnostic visualization purposes. Other instruments may then be introduced to remove, repair, or reconstruct joint pathology.

Surgical indications are based on relevant subjective clinical symptoms, objective physical exam & radiologic findings, and response to previous non-operative treatments when medically appropriate.

Open, non-arthroplasty shoulder repair surgeries are performed as dictated by the type and severity of injury and/or disease.

### **Rotator Cuff Repair (RCR)**

Traditional open rotator cuff repair (RCR) with deltoid take-down should be rare given increased morbidity when compared to arthroscopic or mini-open surgery.

### **Goutallier Classification of Fatty Infiltration of Rotator Cuff Musculature<sup>33,95-98</sup>**

~~(Goutallier, 1994, 2003; Lippe, 2012; Schiefer, 2015; Somerson, 2016)~~

Grade 0 – Normal

Grade 1 – Mild - muscle contains some fatty streaks

Grade 2 – Moderate – more muscle than fat

Grade 3 – Severe – equal amounts of fat and muscle

Grade 4 – More fat than muscle

### **Hamada Classification of Rotator Cuff Arthropathy<sup>36,37,99</sup>**

~~(Brolin, 2017; Hamada, 1990, 2011)~~

### **Acromiohumeral Interval (AHI)**

Grade 1 – AHI over 6 mm

Grade 2 – AHI < 5mm



Grade 3 – Acetabulization

Grade 4 – Acetabulization and narrowed GH joint

Grade 5 - Acetabulization with humeral head collapse

## Revision Rotator Cuff Repair

The Sugaya classification for evaluation in revision rotator cuff repair is as follows:

### Sugaya Classification

Type I - Sufficient thickness, homogeneous tendon (low signal on T2 images)

Type II - Sufficient thickness, partial high-intensity from within the tendon

Type III - Insufficient thickness without discontinuity

Type IV - Minor discontinuity on more than one slice, suggesting a small tear

Type V - Major discontinuity suggesting a moderate or large tear

## Labral Repairs

There is a tendency to misinterpret normal degenerative labral changes and variations as “tears” which may lead to over-utilization of surgery if decisions are made upon imaging reports alone. In addition, the anterior-superior labrum (from 12 to 3 o’clock for a right shoulder) has many normal variations that can be misinterpreted as a tear, including sublabral hole/foramen, Buford complex, and a labral overhang with an intact biceps anchor. In general, true labral tears lead to pain, catching, popping, functional limitations (including age-appropriate activities of daily living (ADLs), occupational and athletic), micro-instability, and gross instability. Labral repairs are most-frequently associated with a specific traumatic event.

### Anterior-Inferior Labral-Tear (Bankart lesion)

A Bankart tear of the glenoid labrum is located at the 3-6 o’clock position of a right shoulder. It is typically caused by a traumatic instability event (dislocation or subluxation). It can involve the labrum, the capsular ligaments (IGHL [inferior glenohumeral ligamentous complex]) and/or the bone (bony Bankart fracture). If symptomatic, ~~Bankart lesions tears~~ typically require surgical repair as ~~individual patients~~ less than 30 have a high recurrence rate of instability. If there has been significant bone loss of the anterior glenoid, further stabilization might be required by transferring the coracoid process and attached conjoint tendon (Latarjet Procedure) or using a bone graft to the anterior glenoid. Engaging or “off-track” defects of the humeral head (Hill-Sachs lesion) may require the use of portions of the rotator cuff (Remplissage Procedure) to fill the bony defect, in order to further stabilize the shoulder.

### Posterior Labral Tear

Similar to Bankart tears, posterior labral tears are often associated with a paralabral cyst that grows large enough to compress the suprascapular nerve (isolated to infraspinatus). Posterior

labral tears are frequently associated with contact sports or a ~~patient~~ history of a traumatic fall/posterior loading of the joint. They are often observed in athletes performing repetitive posterior loading of the joint (offensive linemen in football, ~~weight lifting~~~~weightlifting~~, ~~push-ups~~~~push-ups~~, and bench press). These tears are more likely to result in pain and weakness rather than recurrent dislocations/instability. Posterior labral changes are often misinterpreted on MRI as a “tear” in age > 40 years old, when changes due to early glenohumeral degeneration begin to appear.

### **Combined Labral Tears (e.g., Anterior / Posterior, SLAP / Anterior, SLAP / Posterior, SLAP / Ant. / Post.)**

Combined tears that require repair are almost always associated with significant recurrent instability. Often tears begin within one area and overtime the failure to repair the original injury causes the tear to extend.

### **Adhesive Capsulitis (Lysis of Adhesions; Capsulotomy/-Capsular Release)**

Adhesive capsulitis is a thickening and tightening of the soft tissue capsule that surrounds the glenohumeral joint. Adhesive capsulitis usually begins with the gradual onset of pain and limitation of shoulder motion, with a progression to interference of activities of daily living. Primary adhesive capsulitis is the subject of much debate as the specific causes of this condition are not fully understood. ~~Individual~~~~Patient~~s with uncontrolled diabetes have a significantly higher risk of developing adhesive capsulitis than the general population. Secondary (acquired) adhesive capsulitis develops from a known cause, such as stiffness following a shoulder injury, surgery, or a prolonged period of immobilization. Adhesive capsulitis may last from one to three years, despite active treatment, and is more common in women.

### **Distal Clavicle Excision (DCE)**

The AC joint (acromioclavicular joint) can develop degenerative disease in those over 30 years of age, those with a history of a prior grade I or II AC sprain/separation, those with a history of heavy lifting (labor occupation or strength training), or those with evidence of remote trauma. It can occur in isolated form in younger ~~individual~~~~patients~~ (distal clavicle osteolysis) but is more commonly observed concomitantly with rotator cuff disease in those over age 40 years of age.

### **Long Head Biceps (LHB) Tenotomy/-Tenodesis**

Pain in the area of the long head of the bicep tendon is common, especially in overhead sports and in the presence of rotator cuff tears (especially subscapularis). It can be an isolated source of pain in chronic tenosynovitis, SLAP tears, or small tears of the biceps sling, resulting in dynamic or static subluxation or dislocation of the tendon. LHB problems are frequently missed on MRI (especially using contrast which can mask the pathology). The choice of tenodesis versus tenotomy is controversial. Typically, tenodesis is better for more active, muscular individuals performing higher demand activity (labor, sports). Tenotomy is generally a better option for older, less active ~~individual~~~~patients~~ with poor muscle definition, as it generally leaves the ~~individual~~~~patient~~ with a "popeye" deformity and the possibility of biceps cramping or anterior shoulder pain with activity. The choice of tenotomy vs. tenodesis is generally left up to the surgeon/patient.

### **Loose Body Removal**

Although not as common as in the knee, a loose body in the shoulder may require arthroscopic removal if symptoms such as pain, catching or locking are present. Because of the non-weightbearing status of the shoulder and the axillary fold where a loose body might be positioned, not every loose body diagnosed by imaging requires removal.

### **Synovectomy**

Synovitis is common in many shoulder conditions and typically resolves when the primary pathology is treated. Most commonly, this includes loose bodies, inflammatory arthritis or degenerative arthritis, labral tears, and adhesive capsulitis. Primary synovial diseases include pigmented villonodular synovitis, synovial chondromatosis, rheumatoid arthritis, other inflammatory arthritides, traumatic synovial hypertrophy or metaplasia.

### **Subacromial Decompression (SAD)**

There are 3 types of acromion anatomy according to Bigliani classification: type 1, flat (20%), type 2, curved (40%) and type 3, hooked, (40%). Acromioplasty involves removing bone from the undersurface of the acromion to change a type 3 (hooked) acromion to a type 1 (flat) acromion. Although debated for decades, current evidence concludes that there is no role for isolated acromioplasty (subacromial decompression), which prompted conversion of CPT code 29826 (acromioplasty, subacromial decompression) from an index, primary, "stand-alone" code to an "add-on" code only ~~(Chahal, 2012)~~.<sup>100</sup>

## POLICY HISTORY SUMMARIES

Date	Summary
<u>May 2022</u>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>Updated background and references</u></li> <li>• <u>Further defined the glenoid track verbiage for “off-track” and “on-track” Hill-Sachs lesions (bony defects of the humeral head)</u></li> <li>• <u>Clarified individual is medically stable and <i>optimized for surgery</i></u></li> <li>• <u>Revised Partial-Thickness Rotator Cuff Tear or Calcific Tendinitis to “include two of the following criteria”</u></li> <li>• <u>Revised criteria for Latarjet or Remplissage to “Recurrent <i>anterior dislocations</i>”</u></li> <li>• <u>Non-operative treatment for small RCT revised to <i>ONE</i> of the following (previously “at least one”)</u></li> <li>• <u>Revised 3 months to 12 weeks throughout</u></li> <li>• <u>Replace “patient” with “individual” where appropriate</u></li> </ul> <p><b>Added:</b></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>Eevaluation of painf prior total shoulder arthroplasty as indication for a diagnostic arthroscopy</u></li> <li>• <u>Ceortisone injection within 12 weeks of a rotator cuff repair or revision as a contraindication</u></li> <li>• <u>Added more specific indications for repair of a subscapularis rotator cuff tear</u></li> <li>• <u>Physical examination findings requirement for SLAP tears</u></li> <li>• <u>Criteria for loose body removal</u></li> <li>• <u>“performed in conjunction with a subscapularis tendon repair” to criteria for Long Head Biceps Tenotomy/Tenodesis</u></li> </ul> <p><b>Deleted:</b></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>Deleted the Rrequirement for a cortisone injection for calcific tendinopathy</u></li> <li>• <u>Added more specific indications for repair of a subscapularis rotator cuff tear</u></li> <li>• <u>Deleted cortisone injections from lists of treatment modalities</u></li> <li>• <u>IA joint corticosteroid injection from non-operative treatments for LHB Tenotomy/Tenodesis</u></li> <li>• <u>Rotator cuff repair surgical management statement <del>Added physical examination findings requirement for SLAP tears</del></u></li> <li>• <u>Further defined the glenoid track verbiage for “off-track” and “on-track” Hill-Sachs lesions (bony defects of the humeral head)</u></li> <li>• <u>Added criteria for loose body removal</u></li> </ul>
June 2021	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• Added heat and ice as acceptable non-operative treatment modalities</li> <li>• Added “subluxation” to instability language for Bankart and</li> </ul>

	remplissage and Latarjet surgery <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>Deleted X-ray/MRI language as procedures to r/o co-morbidities for frozen shoulder surgery</li> <li>Deleted the requirement for ROM testing for stiffness if there has been a recent episode of instability</li> </ul>
January 2021	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>Revised section for massive rotator cuff tears</li> <li>Added section for Superior Capsular Reconstruction, including references</li> <li>Added classification tables for Goutallier and Hamada grading</li> </ul>
November 2020	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>Added CPT code 29825 to Shoulder Surgery Other</li> </ul>
October 2020	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>Added statement pertaining to in-office arthroscopy: these procedures are considered investigational and are not managed by Magellan.</li> <li>Added statement pertaining to US-guided percutaneous tenotomy/debridement: these procedures are considered to be investigational and are not managed by Magellan.</li> <li>Deleted requirement for non-operative treatment for massive rotator cuff tears</li> <li>Added indications for Latarjet and Remplissage procedures for shoulder instability.</li> <li>Added indication for biceps tenotomy/tenodesis when performed in conjunction with a TSA.</li> <li>Updated references</li> </ul>
July 2020	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>Removed CPT code S2300</li> </ul>
October 2019	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>Updated references</li> <li>Added US (ultrasound) as acceptable diagnostic test for rotator cuff tears</li> <li>Addition Superior Capsular Reconstruction to rotator cuff repair section</li> <li>Added manipulation under anesthesia (MUA) to adhesive capsulitis section</li> </ul>
November 2018	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>Added new section: '<i>Diagnostic Shoulder Arthroscopy</i>'</li> <li>Added and update references</li> </ul>

## REFERENCES:

~~Alkaduhimi H, Verweij LPE, Willigenburg NW, et al. Remplissage with Bankart repair in anterior shoulder instability: A systematic review of the clinical and cadaveric literature. *Arthroscopy*. 2019 Apr; 35(4):1257-1266.~~

~~Apostolopoulos AP, Angelis S, Vallapragada RK, et al. The sensitivity of magnetic resonance imaging and ultrasonography in detecting rotator cuff tears. *Cureus*. 2019 May 1; 11(5):e4581.~~

~~Bhatia S, Frank RM, Ghodadra NS, et al. The outcomes and surgical techniques of the Latarjet procedure. *Arthroscopy*. 2014 Feb; 30(2):227-35.~~

~~Bishop JY, Hidden KA, Jones GL, et al. Factors influencing surgeon's choice of procedure for anterior shoulder instability: a multicenter prospective cohort study. *Arthroscopy*. 2019 Jul; 35(7):2014-2025. doi: 10.1016/j.arthro.2019.02.035. Epub 2019 Jun 14.~~

~~Bishop JY, Santiago-Torres JE, Rimmke N, et al. Smoking predisposes to rotator cuff pathology and shoulder dysfunction: A systematic review. *Arthroscopy*. 2015; 31(8):1598-605.~~

~~Brolin TJ, Updegrave GF, Horneff JG. Classifications in Brief: Hamada classification of massive rotator cuff tears. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2017 Nov; 475(11):2819-2823.~~

~~Burkhart SS, Prackun JJ, Hartzler RU. Superior capsular reconstruction for the operatively irreparable rotator cuff tear: Clinical outcomes are maintained 2 years after surgery. *Arthroscopy*. 2020 Feb; 36(2):373-380.~~

~~Chahal J, Mall N, MacDonald PB, et al. The role of subacromial decompression in patients undergoing arthroscopic repair of full-thickness tears of the rotator cuff: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arthroscopy*. 2012; 28(5):720-7. Epub 2012 Feb 2.~~

~~Chalmers PN, Verma NN. Proximal biceps in overhead athletes. *Clin Sports Med*. 2016; 35(1):163-79. doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2015.08.009.~~

~~Chung SW, Kim JY, Kim MH, et al. Arthroscopic repair of massive rotator cuff tears: Outcome and analysis of factors associated with healing failure or poor postoperative function. *Am J Sports Med*. 2013 Jul; 41(7):1674-83. Epub 2013 Apr 30.~~

~~Creech MJ, Yeung M, Denkers M, et al. Surgical indications for long head biceps tenodesis: A systematic review. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2016; 24(7):2156-66.~~

~~Denard PJ, Brady PC, Adams CR, et al. Preliminary results of arthroscopic superior capsule reconstruction with dermal allograft. *Arthroscopy*. 2018; 34:93-99.~~

~~Di Giacomo G, Itoi E, Burkhart SS. Evolving concept of bipolar bone loss and the Hill-Sachs lesion: From 'engaging/non-engaging' lesion to 'on track/off track' lesion. *Arthroscopy*. 2014; 30:90-98.~~

Dyrna FGE, Ludwig M, Imhoff AB, et al. Off-track Hill-Sachs lesions predispose to recurrence after nonoperative management of first-time anterior shoulder dislocations. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc Actions*. 2020 Aug 1.

Erickson J, Lavery K, Monica J, et al. Surgical treatment of symptomatic superior labrum anterior-posterior tears in patients older than 40 years: A systematic review. *Am J Sports Med*. 2015; 43(5):1274-82. Epub 2014 Jun 24.

Familiari F, Gonzalez-Zapata A, Iannò B, et al. Is acromioplasty necessary in the setting of full-thickness rotator cuff tears? A systematic review. *J Orthop Traumatol*. 2015; 16(3):167-74. Epub 2015 May 24.

Forsythe B, Frank RM, Ahmed M, et al. Identification and treatment of existing copathology in anterior shoulder instability repair. *Arthroscopy*. 2015; 31(1):154-66.

Frank JM, Chahal J, Frank RM, et al. The role of acromioplasty for rotator cuff problems. *Orthop Clin North Am*. 2014; 45(2):219-24. Epub 2014 Jan 16. doi: 10.1016/j.ocl.2013.12.003. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24684915>.

Frank RM, Cvetanovich G, Savin D, et al. Superior capsular reconstruction: Indications, techniques, and clinical outcomes. *JBJS Rev*. 2018 Jul; 6(7).

Galvin JW, Kenney R, Curry EJ, et al. Superior capsular reconstruction for massive rotator cuff tears: A critical analysis review. *JBJS Rev*. 2019 Jun; 7(6).

Goutallier D, Postel J, Bernageau J, et al. Fatty muscle degeneration in cuff ruptures. Pre- and postoperative evaluation by CT scan. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 1994; 304:78-83.

Goutallier D, Postel JM, Gleyze P, et al. Influence of cuff muscle fatty degeneration on anatomic and functional outcomes after simple suture of full-thickness tears. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2003; 12:550.

Hamada K, Fukuda H, Mikasa M, et al. Roentgenographic findings in massive rotator cuff tears: A long-term observation. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 1990; 254:92-96.

Hamada K, Yamanaka K, Uchiyama Y, et al. A radiographic classification of massive rotator cuff tear arthritis. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2011; 469:2452-60.

Harris JD, Frank JM, Jordan MA, et al. Return to sport following shoulder surgery in the elite pitcher: A systematic review. *Sports Health*. 2013a; 5(4):367-76.

Harris JD, Gupta AK, Mall NA, et al. Long-term outcomes after Bankart shoulder stabilization. *Bach Arthroscopy*. 2013b; 29(5):920-33. Epub 2013 Feb 5. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23395467>.

~~Harris JD, Pedroza A, Jones GL. Predictors of pain and function in patients with symptomatic, atraumatic full-thickness rotator cuff tears: A time-zero analysis of a prospective patient cohort enrolled in a structured physical therapy program. Shoulder Group. Am J Sports Med. 2012; 40(2):359-66. Epub 2011 Nov 17. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22095706>.~~

~~Harris JD, Romeo AA. Arthroscopic management of the contact athlete with instability. Clin Sports Med. 2013c; 32(4):709-30. Epub 2013 Aug 20. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24079430>.~~

~~Hartzler RU, Burkhart SS. Superior capsular reconstruction. Orthopedics. 2017 Oct 1; 40(5):271-280.~~

~~Hegedus EJ, Goode AP, Cook CE, et al. Which physical examination tests provide clinicians with the most value when examining the shoulder? Update of a systematic review with meta-analysis of individual tests. Sports Med. 2012; 46(14):964-78. Epub 2012 Jul 7. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22773322>.~~

~~Henry P, Wasserstein D, Park S, et al. Arthroscopic repair for chronic massive rotator cuff tears: A systematic review. Arthroscopy. 2015; 31(12):2472-80. Epub 2015 Sep 11. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26364549>.~~

~~Hurley ET, Jamal MS, Ali ZS, et al. Long-term outcomes of the Latarjet procedure for anterior shoulder instability: A systematic review of studies at 10-year follow-up. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2019 Feb; 28(2):e33-e39. Epub 2018 Dec 11.~~

~~Hurley ET, Lim Fat D, Farrington SK, et al. Open versus arthroscopic Latarjet procedure for anterior shoulder instability: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2019 Apr; 47(5):1248-1253.~~

~~Kanbe K, Chiba J, Inoue Y, et al. Analysis of clinical factors related to the efficacy of shoulder arthroscopic synovectomy plus capsular release in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2015; 25(3):451-5. Epub 2014 Dec 24. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25537932>.~~

~~Khair MM, Lehman J, Tsouris N, et al. A systematic review of preoperative fatty infiltration and rotator cuff outcomes. HSS J. 2016; 12(2):170-6. Epub 2015 Sep 25. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27385947>.~~

~~Kibler WB, Sciascia A. Current practice for the diagnosis of a SLAP lesion: Systematic review and physician survey. Arthroscopy. 2015; 31(12):2456-69. Epub 2015 Aug 28. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26321113>.~~



~~Kruse KK, Dilisio MF, Wang WL, et al. Do we really need to order magnetic resonance imaging? Shoulder surgeon ultrasound practice patterns and beliefs. JSES Open Access. 2019 Apr 26; 3(2):93-98. eCollection 2019 Jul.~~

~~Lippe J, Spang JT, Leger RR, et al. Inter-rater agreement of the Goutallier, Patte, and Warner classification scores using preoperative magnetic resonance imaging in patients with rotator cuff tears. Arthroscopy. 2012 Feb; 28(2):154-9.~~

~~Maio M, Sarmiento M, Moura N, et al. How to measure a Hill-Sachs lesion: A systematic review. EFORT Open Rev. 2019 Apr; 4(4): 151-157. Epub 2019 Apr 26.~~

~~McCormick F, Bhatia S, Chalmers P, et al. The management of type II superior labral anterior to posterior injuries. Orthop Clin North Am. 2014; 45(1):121-8. Epub 2013 Oct 1.~~

~~Melis B, DeFranco MJ, Chuinard C, et al. Natural history of fatty infiltration and atrophy of the supraspinatus muscle in rotator cuff tears. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2010; 468:1498.~~

~~Mihata T, Lee TQ, Hasegawa A, et al. Five-year follow-up of arthroscopic superior capsule reconstruction for irreparable rotator cuff tears. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2019 Nov 6; 101(21):1921-30.~~

~~Milano G, Grasso A, Russo A, et al. Analysis of risk factors for glenoid bone defect in anterior shoulder instability. Am J Sports Med. 2011; 39:1870.~~

~~Moroder P, Schulz E, Wierer G, et al. Neer Award 2019: Latarjet procedure vs. iliac crest bone graft transfer for treatment of anterior shoulder instability with glenoid bone loss: A prospective randomized trial. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2019 Jul; 28(7):1298-1307.~~

~~Naimark M, Trinh T, Robbins C, et al. Effect of muscle quality on operative and nonoperative treatment of rotator cuff tears. Orthop J Sports Med. 2019 Aug 5; 7(8).~~

~~Okoroha KR, Mehran N, Duncan J, et al. Characterization of rotator cuff tears: Ultrasound versus magnetic resonance imaging. Orthopedics. 2017 Jan 1; 40(1):e124-e130. Epub 2016 Oct 18.~~

~~Paavola M, Malmivaara A, Taimela S, et al. Subacromial decompression versus diagnostic arthroscopy for shoulder impingement: Randomised, placebo surgery controlled clinical trial. BMJ. 2018 Jul 19; 362:k2860.~~

~~Pedowitz RA, Yamaguchi K, Ahmad CS, et al. Optimizing the management of rotator cuff problems. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2011; 19(6):368-79.  
<http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21628648>.~~

Pensak M, Grumet RC, Slabaugh MA, et al. Open versus arthroscopic distal clavicle resection. *Arthroscopy*. 2010; 26(5):697-704. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20434670>.

Rashid MS, Crichton J, Butt U, et al. Arthroscopic "Remplissage" for shoulder instability: A systematic review. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2016 Feb; 24(2):578-84.

Saltzman BM, Jain A, Campbell KA, et al. Does the use of platelet rich plasma at the time of surgery improve clinical outcomes in arthroscopic rotator cuff repair when compared with control cohorts? A systematic review of meta-analyses. *Arthroscopy*. 2016; 32(5):906-18. Epub 2015 Dec 23. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26725454>.

Santiago-Torres J, Flanigan DC, Butler RB, et al. The effect of smoking on rotator cuff and glenoid labrum surgery: A systematic review. *Am J Sports Med*. 2015; 43(3):745-51. Epub 2014 May 23. doi: 10.1177/0363546514533776. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24859982>.

Schiefer M, Mendonça R, Magnanini MM, et al. Intraobserver and interobserver agreement of Goutallier classification applied to magnetic resonance images. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2015 Aug; 24(8):1314-21.

Shon MS, Koh KH, Lim TK, et al. Arthroscopic partial repair of irreparable rotator cuff tears: preoperative factors associated with outcome deterioration over 2 years. *Am J Sports Med*. 2015; 43(8):1965-1975.

Singh B, Gulihar A, Bilagi P, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging scans are not a reliable tool for predicting symptomatic acromioclavicular arthritis. *Shoulder Elbow*. 2018 Oct; 10(4):250-254. <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30214490>.

Smith TJ, Gowd AK, Kunkel J, et al. Superior capsular reconstruction provides sufficient biomechanical outcomes for massive, irreparable rotator cuff tears: A systematic review. *Arthroscopy*. 2021 Jan; 37(1):402-410.

Somerson JS, Hsu JE, Gorbaty JD, et al. Classifications in brief: Goutallier classification of fatty infiltration of the rotator cuff musculature. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2016 May; 474(5):1328-32.

Strauss EJ, Barker JU, McGill K, et al. The evaluation and management of failed distal clavicle excision. *Sports Med Arthrosc*. 2010; 18(3):213-9. <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20711054>.

Strauss EJ, McCormack RA, Onyekwelu I, et al. Management of failed arthroscopic rotator cuff repair. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2012; 20(5):301-9.

Tokish JM, Makovicka JL. The superior capsular reconstruction: Lessons learned and future directions. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2020 Jul 1; 28(13):528-537.

Warner JJ, Higgins L, Parsons IM, Dowdy P. Diagnosis and treatment of anterosuperior rotator cuff tears. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2001; 10(1):37–46.

Weber S, Chahal J. Management of Rotator Cuff Injuries. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2019 Oct 9. doi: 10.5435/JAAOS-D-19-00463.

Werner BC, Brockmeier SF, Miller MD. Etiology, diagnosis, and management of failed SLAP repair. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2014; 22(9):554–65.  
<http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25157037>.

Werthel JD, Sabatier V, Schoch B, et al. Outcomes of the Latarjet procedure for the treatment of chronic anterior shoulder instability: Patients with prior arthroscopic bankart repair versus primary cases. *Am J Sports Med.* 2020 Jan; 48(1):27–32.

Yang JS, Mazzocca AD, Cote MP, et al. Recurrent anterior shoulder instability with combined bone loss: treatment and results with the modified Latarjet procedure. *Am J Sports Med.* 2016 Apr; 44(4):922–32.

Yang JS, Mehran N, Mazzocca AD, et al. Remplissage Versus Modified Latarjet for Off-Track Hill-Sachs Lesions with Subcritical Glenoid Bone Loss. *Am J Sports Med.* 2018 Jul; 46(8):1885–1891.

Zhang K, Crum RJ, Samuelsson K, et al. In-office needle arthroscopy: A systematic review of indications and clinical utility. 2019 Sep; 35(9):2709–2721.

**Reviewed / Approved by NIA Clinical Guideline Committee**

## GENERAL INFORMATION

~~It is an expectation that all patients receive care/services from a licensed clinician. All appropriate supporting documentation, including recent pertinent office visit notes, laboratory data, and results of any special testing must be provided. If applicable: All prior relevant imaging results and the reason that alternative imaging cannot be performed must be included in the documentation submitted.~~

**Disclaimer:** Magellan Healthcare service authorization policies do not constitute medical advice and are not intended to govern or otherwise influence the practice of medicine. These policies are not meant to supplant your normal procedures, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and/or care plans for your patients. Your professional judgement must be exercised and followed in all respects with regard to the treatment and care of your patients. These policies apply to all Magellan Healthcare subsidiaries including, but not limited to, National Imaging Associates (“Magellan”). The policies constitute only the reimbursement and coverage guidelines of Magellan. Coverage for services varies for individual members in accordance with the terms and conditions of applicable Certificates of Coverage, Summary Plan Descriptions, or contracts with governing regulatory agencies. Magellan reserves the right to review and update the guidelines at its sole discretion. Notice of such changes, if necessary, shall be provided in accordance with the terms and conditions of provider agreements and any applicable laws or regulations.

1. Bishop JY, Santiago-Torres JE, Rimmke N, Flanigan DC. Smoking Predisposes to Rotator Cuff Pathology and Shoulder Dysfunction: A Systematic Review. *Arthroscopy*. Aug 2015;31(8):1598-605. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2015.01.026
2. Santiago-Torres J, Flanigan DC, Butler RB, Bishop JY. The effect of smoking on rotator cuff and glenoid labrum surgery: a systematic review. *Am J Sports Med*. Mar 2015;43(3):745-51. doi:10.1177/0363546514533776
3. Akgün D, Maziak N, Plachel F, et al. Diagnostic Arthroscopy for Detection of Periprosthetic Infection in Painful Shoulder Arthroplasty. *Arthroscopy*. Sep 2019;35(9):2571-2577. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2019.03.058
4. Guild T, Kuhn G, Rivers M, Cheski R, Trenhaile S, Izquierdo R. The Role of Arthroscopy in Painful Shoulder Arthroplasty: Is Revision Always Necessary? *Arthroscopy*. Jun 2020;36(6):1508-1514. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2020.01.045
5. Khan M, Ayeni OR. Editorial Commentary: Does the Scope Have a Role in Painful Shoulder Arthroplasty? *Arthroscopy*. Jun 2020;36(6):1515-1516. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2020.02.031
6. Parker DB, Smith AC, Fleckenstein CM, Hasan SS. Arthroscopic Evaluation and Treatment of Complications That Arise Following Prosthetic Shoulder Arthroplasty. *JBJS Rev*. Aug 2020;8(8):e2000020-8. doi:10.2106/jbjs.Rvw.20.00020
7. Zhang K, Crum RJ, Samuelsson K, Cadet E, Ayeni OR, de Sa D. In-Office Needle Arthroscopy: A Systematic Review of Indications and Clinical Utility. *Arthroscopy*. Sep 2019;35(9):2709-2721. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2019.03.045

8. Harris JD, Pedroza A, Jones GL. Predictors of pain and function in patients with symptomatic, atraumatic full-thickness rotator cuff tears: a time-zero analysis of a prospective patient cohort enrolled in a structured physical therapy program. *Am J Sports Med.* Feb 2012;40(2):359-66. doi:10.1177/0363546511426003
9. Okoroha KR, Mehran N, Duncan J, et al. Characterization of Rotator Cuff Tears: Ultrasound Versus Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Orthopedics.* Jan 1 2017;40(1):e124-e130. doi:10.3928/01477447-20161013-04
10. Barreto RPG, Braman JP, Ludewig PM, Ribeiro LP, Camargo PR. Bilateral magnetic resonance imaging findings in individuals with unilateral shoulder pain. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* Sep 2019;28(9):1699-1706. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2019.04.001
11. Hegedus EJ, Goode AP, Cook CE, et al. Which physical examination tests provide clinicians with the most value when examining the shoulder? Update of a systematic review with meta-analysis of individual tests. *Br J Sports Med.* Nov 2012;46(14):964-78. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2012-091066
12. Apostolopoulos AP, Angelis S, Yallapragada RK, et al. The Sensitivity of Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Ultrasonography in Detecting Rotator Cuff Tears. *Cureus.* May 1 2019;11(5):e4581. doi:10.7759/cureus.4581
13. Kruse KK, Dilisio MF, Wang WL, Schmidt CC. Do we really need to order magnetic resonance imaging? Shoulder surgeon ultrasound practice patterns and beliefs. *JSES Open Access.* Jul 2019;3(2):93-98. doi:10.1016/j.jses.2019.01.004
14. Pedowitz RA, Yamaguchi K, Ahmad CS, et al. Optimizing the management of rotator cuff problems. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* Jun 2011;19(6):368-79. doi:10.5435/00124635-201106000-00007
15. Boorman RS, More KD, Hollinshead RM, et al. What happens to patients when we do not repair their cuff tears? Five-year rotator cuff quality-of-life index outcomes following nonoperative treatment of patients with full-thickness rotator cuff tears. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* Mar 2018;27(3):444-448. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2017.10.009
16. Fossati C, Stoppani C, Menon A, Pierannunzii L, Compagnoni R, Randelli PS. Arthroscopic rotator cuff repair in patients over 70 years of age: a systematic review. *J Orthop Traumatol.* Feb 18 2021;22(1):3. doi:10.1186/s10195-021-00565-z
17. Kuhn JE, Dunn WR, Sanders R, et al. Effectiveness of physical therapy in treating atraumatic full-thickness rotator cuff tears: a multicenter prospective cohort study. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* Oct 2013;22(10):1371-9. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2013.01.026
18. Agarwalla A, Puzzitiello RN, Mascarenhas R, Sumner S, Romeo AA, Forsythe B. Preoperative Injections May Be an Iatrogenic Cause of Reoperation After Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair. *Arthroscopy.* Feb 2019;35(2):325-331. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2018.08.042
19. Cimino AM, Veazey GC, McMurtrie JT, et al. Corticosteroid Injections May Increase Retear and Revision Rates of Rotator Cuff Repair: A Systematic Review. *Arthroscopy.* Aug 2020;36(8):2334-2341. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2020.04.044
20. Lubowitz JH, Brand JC, Rossi MJ. Preoperative Shoulder Corticosteroid Injection Is Associated With Revision After Primary Rotator Cuff Repair. *Arthroscopy.* Mar 2019;35(3):693-694. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2018.12.025
21. von Knoch M, Baums MH, Lehmann W, Frosch S. Risk Analysis of Perioperative Injections in Arthroscopic Reconstruction of the Rotator Cuff of the Shoulder - A Systematic Review. *Z*

- Orthop Unfall*. Mar 29 2021;Risikoanalyse perioperativer Infiltrationen bei arthroskopischer Rotatorenmanschettennaht der Schulter – ein systematischer Review. doi:10.1055/a-1394-6469
22. Weber AE, Trasolini NA, Mayer EN, et al. Injections Prior to Rotator Cuff Repair Are Associated With Increased Rotator Cuff Revision Rates. *Arthroscopy*. Mar 2019;35(3):717-724. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2018.10.116
  23. Forsythe B, Agarwalla A, Puzzitiello RN, Sumner S, Romeo AA, Mascarenhas R. The Timing of Injections Prior to Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair Impacts the Risk of Surgical Site Infection. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Apr 17 2019;101(8):682-687. doi:10.2106/jbjs.18.00631
  24. Saffarini M. Editorial Commentary: "Doctor, Are You Sure the Steroid Injection Won't Harm My Shoulder?" Perhaps We Should Stop Injecting Corticosteroids and Just Repair Those Rotator Cuffs. *Arthroscopy*. Jan 2019;35(1):51-53. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2018.10.009
  25. Traven SA, Brinton D, Simpson KN, et al. Preoperative Shoulder Injections Are Associated With Increased Risk of Revision Rotator Cuff Repair. *Arthroscopy*. Mar 2019;35(3):706-713. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2018.10.107
  26. Woolf SK. Editorial Commentary: Steroid Injections Prior to Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair-Is It Time to Rethink a Conservative Treatment Paradigm? *Arthroscopy*. Mar 2019;35(3):714-716. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2018.12.017
  27. Weber S, Chahal J. Management of Rotator Cuff Injuries. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Mar 1 2020;28(5):e193-e201. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-19-00463
  28. Shon MS, Koh KH, Lim TK, Kim WJ, Kim KC, Yoo JC. Arthroscopic Partial Repair of Irreparable Rotator Cuff Tears: Preoperative Factors Associated With Outcome Deterioration Over 2 Years. *Am J Sports Med*. Aug 2015;43(8):1965-75. doi:10.1177/0363546515585122
  29. Denard PJ, Brady PC, Adams CR, Tokish JM, Burkhart SS. Preliminary Results of Arthroscopic Superior Capsule Reconstruction with Dermal Allograft. *Arthroscopy*. Jan 2018;34(1):93-99. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2017.08.265
  30. Henry P, Wasserstein D, Park S, et al. Arthroscopic Repair for Chronic Massive Rotator Cuff Tears: A Systematic Review. *Arthroscopy*. Dec 2015;31(12):2472-80. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2015.06.038
  31. Chung SW, Kim JY, Kim MH, Kim SH, Oh JH. Arthroscopic repair of massive rotator cuff tears: outcome and analysis of factors associated with healing failure or poor postoperative function. *Am J Sports Med*. Jul 2013;41(7):1674-83. doi:10.1177/0363546513485719
  32. Khair MM, Lehman J, Tsouris N, Gulotta LV. A Systematic Review of Preoperative Fatty Infiltration and Rotator Cuff Outcomes. *Hss j*. Jul 2016;12(2):170-6. doi:10.1007/s11420-015-9465-5
  33. Somerson JS, Hsu JE, Gorbaty JD, Gee AO. Classifications in Brief: Goutallier Classification of Fatty Infiltration of the Rotator Cuff Musculature. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. May 2016;474(5):1328-32. doi:10.1007/s11999-015-4630-1
  34. Naimark M, Trinh T, Robbins C, et al. Effect of Muscle Quality on Operative and Nonoperative Treatment of Rotator Cuff Tears. *Orthop J Sports Med*. Aug 2019;7(8):2325967119863010. doi:10.1177/2325967119863010
  35. Warner JJ, Higgins L, Parsons IMt, Dowdy P. Diagnosis and treatment of anterosuperior rotator cuff tears. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. Jan-Feb 2001;10(1):37-46. doi:10.1067/mse.2001.112022



36. Brolin TJ, Updegrave GF, Horneff JG. Classifications in Brief: Hamada Classification of Massive Rotator Cuff Tears. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Nov 2017;475(11):2819-2823. doi:10.1007/s11999-017-5340-7
37. Hamada K, Yamanaka K, Uchiyama Y, Mikasa T, Mikasa M. A radiographic classification of massive rotator cuff tear arthritis. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Sep 2011;469(9):2452-60. doi:10.1007/s11999-011-1896-9
38. Chae SH, Jung TW, Lee SH, et al. Hidden Long Head of the Biceps Tendon Instability and Concealed Intratendinous Subscapularis Tears. *Orthop J Sports Med*. Jan 2020;8(1):2325967119898123. doi:10.1177/2325967119898123
39. Chauvet T, Haritnian E, Baudin F, Collotte P, Nové-Josserand L. The Invisible MGHL Test: Diagnostic Value and Benefits for the Repair of Retracted Subscapularis Tears. *Am J Sports Med*. Jul 2020;48(9):2144-2150. doi:10.1177/0363546520929695
40. Hsu KL, Chuang HC, Chang HM, et al. Association Between Medial Displacement of the Middle Glenohumeral Ligament and Subscapularis Tear Severity. *Orthop J Sports Med*. Apr 2022;10(4):23259671221083593. doi:10.1177/23259671221083593
41. Katthagen JC, Vap AR, Tahal DS, Horan MP, Millett PJ. Arthroscopic Repair of Isolated Partial- and Full-Thickness Upper Third Subscapularis Tendon Tears: Minimum 2-Year Outcomes After Single-Anchor Repair and Biceps Tenodesis. *Arthroscopy*. Jul 2017;33(7):1286-1293. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2017.01.027
42. Kim SJ, Jung M, Lee JH, Park JH, Chun YM. Arthroscopic repair of a significant (>50%) partial-thickness subscapularis tear concomitant with a full-thickness supraspinatus tear: technical considerations for subscapularis repair (transtendon technique versus tear completion). *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. Jun 2015;24(6):875-81. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2014.10.009
43. Lee TQ. Editorial Commentary: Precise Repair of Partial Subscapularis Tendon Tears Is Essential. *Arthroscopy*. May 2019;35(5):1314-1315. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2019.02.022
44. Nové-Josserand L, Saffarini M, Hannink G, Carrillon Y. Influence of pre-operative tear size and tendon retraction on repair outcomes for isolated subscapularis tears. *Int Orthop*. Dec 2016;40(12):2559-2566. doi:10.1007/s00264-016-3299-8
45. Saltzman BM, Collins MJ, Leroux T, et al. Arthroscopic Repair of Isolated Subscapularis Tears: A Systematic Review of Technique-Specific Outcomes. *Arthroscopy*. Apr 2017;33(4):849-860. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2016.10.020
46. Burkhart SS, Prankun JJ, Hartzler RU. Superior Capsular Reconstruction for the Operatively Irreparable Rotator Cuff Tear: Clinical Outcomes Are Maintained 2 Years After Surgery. *Arthroscopy*. Feb 2020;36(2):373-380. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2019.08.035
47. Frank RM, Cvetanovich G, Savin D, Romeo AA. Superior Capsular Reconstruction: Indications, Techniques, and Clinical Outcomes. *JBJS Rev*. Jul 2018;6(7):e10. doi:10.2106/jbjs.Rvw.17.00141
48. Galvin JW, Kenney R, Curry EJ, et al. Superior Capsular Reconstruction for Massive Rotator Cuff Tears: A Critical Analysis Review. *JBJS Rev*. Jun 2019;7(6):e1. doi:10.2106/jbjs.Rvw.18.00072
49. Hartzler RU, Burkhart SS. Superior Capsular Reconstruction. *Orthopedics*. Oct 1 2017;40(5):271-280. doi:10.3928/01477447-20170920-02

50. Mihata T, Lee TQ, Hasegawa A, et al. Five-Year Follow-up of Arthroscopic Superior Capsule Reconstruction for Irreparable Rotator Cuff Tears. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Nov 6 2019;101(21):1921-1930. doi:10.2106/jbjs.19.00135
51. Smith TJ, Gowd AK, Kunkel J, Kaplin L, Waterman BR. Superior Capsular Reconstruction Provides Sufficient Biomechanical Outcomes for Massive, Irreparable Rotator Cuff Tears: A Systematic Review. *Arthroscopy*. Jan 2021;37(1):402-410. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2020.09.007
52. Tokish JM, Makovicka JL. The Superior Capsular Reconstruction: Lessons Learned and Future Directions. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Jul 1 2020;28(13):528-537. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-19-00057
53. Ohta S, Komai O, Onochi Y. Outcomes of superior capsule reconstruction for massive rotator cuff tears and risk factors for postoperative retear. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg*. Oct 2020;140(10):1319-1325. doi:10.1007/s00402-019-03316-2
54. Strauss EJ, McCormack RA, Onyekwelu I, Rokito AS. Management of failed arthroscopic rotator cuff repair. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. May 2012;20(5):301-9. doi:10.5435/jaaos-20-05-301
55. Erickson J, Lavery K, Monica J, Gatt C, Dhawan A. Surgical treatment of symptomatic superior labrum anterior-posterior tears in patients older than 40 years: a systematic review. *Am J Sports Med*. May 2015;43(5):1274-82. doi:10.1177/0363546514536874
56. McCormick F, Bhatia S, Chalmers P, Gupta A, Verma N, Romeo AA. The management of type II superior labral anterior to posterior injuries. *Orthop Clin North Am*. Jan 2014;45(1):121-8. doi:10.1016/j.ocl.2013.08.008
57. Belk JW, Kraeutler MJ, Houck DA, Chrisman AN, Scillia AJ, McCarty EC. Biceps tenodesis versus tenotomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of level I randomized controlled trials. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. May 2021;30(5):951-960. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2020.11.012
58. Denard PJ, Lädermann A, Parsley BK, Burkhart SS. Arthroscopic biceps tenodesis compared with repair of isolated type II SLAP lesions in patients older than 35 years. *Orthopedics*. Mar 2014;37(3):e292-7. doi:10.3928/01477447-20140225-63
59. Dunne KF, Knesek M, Tjong VK, et al. Arthroscopic treatment of type II superior labral anterior to posterior (SLAP) lesions in a younger population: minimum 2-year outcomes are similar between SLAP repair and biceps tenodesis. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. Jan 2021;29(1):257-265. doi:10.1007/s00167-020-05971-0
60. Ek ET, Shi LL, Tompson JD, Freehill MT, Warner JJ. Surgical treatment of isolated type II superior labrum anterior-posterior (SLAP) lesions: repair versus biceps tenodesis. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. Jul 2014;23(7):1059-65. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2013.09.030
61. Harris JD, Romeo AA. Arthroscopic management of the contact athlete with instability. *Clin Sports Med*. Oct 2013;32(4):709-30. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2013.07.007
62. Harris JD, Gupta AK, Mall NA, et al. Long-term outcomes after Bankart shoulder stabilization. *Arthroscopy*. May 2013;29(5):920-33. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2012.11.010
63. Alkaduhimi H, Verweij LPE, Willigenburg NW, van Deurzen DFP, van den Bekerom MPJ. Remplissage With Bankart Repair in Anterior Shoulder Instability: A Systematic Review of the Clinical and Cadaveric Literature. *Arthroscopy*. Apr 2019;35(4):1257-1266. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2018.10.117
64. Bhatia S, Frank RM, Ghodadra NS, et al. The outcomes and surgical techniques of the Latarjet procedure. *Arthroscopy*. Feb 2014;30(2):227-35. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2013.10.013



65. Bishop JY, Hidden KA, Jones GL, Hettrich CM, Wolf BR. Factors Influencing Surgeon's Choice of Procedure for Anterior Shoulder Instability: A Multicenter Prospective Cohort Study. *Arthroscopy*. Jul 2019;35(7):2014-2025. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2019.02.035
66. Di Giacomo G, Itoi E, Burkhart SS. Evolving concept of bipolar bone loss and the Hill-Sachs lesion: from "engaging/non-engaging" lesion to "on-track/off-track" lesion. *Arthroscopy*. Jan 2014;30(1):90-8. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2013.10.004
67. Dyrna FGE, Ludwig M, Imhoff AB, Martetschläger F. Off-track Hill-Sachs lesions predispose to recurrence after nonoperative management of first-time anterior shoulder dislocations. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. Jul 2021;29(7):2289-2296. doi:10.1007/s00167-020-06176-1
68. Hurley ET, Jamal MS, Ali ZS, Montgomery C, Pauzenberger L, Mullett H. Long-term outcomes of the Latarjet procedure for anterior shoulder instability: a systematic review of studies at 10-year follow-up. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. Feb 2019;28(2):e33-e39. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2018.08.028
69. Hurley ET, Lim Fat D, Farrington SK, Mullett H. Open Versus Arthroscopic Latarjet Procedure for Anterior Shoulder Instability: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Am J Sports Med*. Apr 2019;47(5):1248-1253. doi:10.1177/0363546518759540
70. Maio M, Sarmiento M, Moura N, Cartucho A. How to measure a Hill-Sachs lesion: a systematic review. *EFORT Open Rev*. Apr 2019;4(4):151-157. doi:10.1302/2058-5241.4.180031
71. Milano G, Grasso A, Russo A, et al. Analysis of risk factors for glenoid bone defect in anterior shoulder instability. *Am J Sports Med*. Sep 2011;39(9):1870-6. doi:10.1177/0363546511411699
72. Moroder P, Schulz E, Wierer G, et al. Neer Award 2019: Latarjet procedure vs. iliac crest bone graft transfer for treatment of anterior shoulder instability with glenoid bone loss: a prospective randomized trial. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. Jul 2019;28(7):1298-1307. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2019.03.035
73. Rashid MS, Crichton J, Butt U, Akimau PI, Charalambous CP. Arthroscopic "Remplissage" for shoulder instability: a systematic review. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. Feb 2016;24(2):578-84. doi:10.1007/s00167-014-2881-0
74. Werthel JD, Sabatier V, Schoch B, et al. Outcomes of the Latarjet Procedure for the Treatment of Chronic Anterior Shoulder Instability: Patients With Prior Arthroscopic Bankart Repair Versus Primary Cases. *Am J Sports Med*. Jan 2020;48(1):27-32. doi:10.1177/0363546519888909
75. Yang JS, Mazzocca AD, Cote MP, Edgar CM, Arciero RA. Recurrent Anterior Shoulder Instability With Combined Bone Loss: Treatment and Results With the Modified Latarjet Procedure. *Am J Sports Med*. Apr 2016;44(4):922-32. doi:10.1177/0363546515623929
76. Arner JW, Peebles LA, Bradley JP, Provencher MT. Anterior Shoulder Instability Management: Indications, Techniques, and Outcomes. *Arthroscopy*. Nov 2020;36(11):2791-2793. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2020.09.024
77. Lubowitz JH, Brand JC, Rossi MJ. Proper Evaluation of Bone Loss Determines Shoulder Instability Indications and Outcomes. *Arthroscopy*. Mar 2021;37(3):785-786. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2021.01.004
78. Pécora JOR, Neves Junior AT, Roesler CRM, et al. Glenoid track evaluation by a validated finite-element shoulder numerical model. *Orthop Traumatol Surg Res*. Jun 2020;106(4):735-742. doi:10.1016/j.otsr.2020.03.004

79. Trivedi S, Pomerantz ML, Gross D, Golijanan P, Provencher MT. Shoulder instability in the setting of bipolar (glenoid and humeral head) bone loss: the glenoid track concept. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Aug 2014;472(8):2352-62. doi:10.1007/s11999-014-3589-7
80. Vopat ML, Hermanns CA, Midtgaard KS, et al. Imaging Modalities for the Glenoid Track in Recurrent Shoulder Instability: A Systematic Review. *Orthop J Sports Med*. Jun 2021;9(6):23259671211006750. doi:10.1177/23259671211006750
81. Barber FA, Howard MS. Editorial Commentary: Glenoid Track Instability Management Score or Instability Severity Index Score-Will This Decrease Latarjet Abuse? *Arthroscopy*. Jan 2020;36(1):68-70. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2019.09.002
82. Di Giacomo G, Peebles LA, Pugliese M, et al. Glenoid Track Instability Management Score: Radiographic Modification of the Instability Severity Index Score. *Arthroscopy*. Jan 2020;36(1):56-67. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2019.07.020
83. Younan Y, Wong PK, Karas S, et al. The glenoid track: a review of the clinical relevance, method of calculation and current evidence behind this method. *Skeletal Radiol*. Dec 2017;46(12):1625-1634. doi:10.1007/s00256-017-2687-5
84. Kibler WB, Sciascia A. Current Practice for the Diagnosis of a SLAP Lesion: Systematic Review and Physician Survey. *Arthroscopy*. Dec 2015;31(12):2456-69. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2015.06.033
85. Forsythe B, Frank RM, Ahmed M, et al. Identification and treatment of existing copathology in anterior shoulder instability repair. *Arthroscopy*. Jan 2015;31(1):154-66. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2014.06.014
86. Pensak M, Grumet RC, Slabaugh MA, Bach BR, Jr. Open versus arthroscopic distal clavicle resection. *Arthroscopy*. May 2010;26(5):697-704. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2009.12.007
87. Singh B, Gulihar A, Bilagi P, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging scans are not a reliable tool for predicting symptomatic acromioclavicular arthritis. *Shoulder Elbow*. Oct 2018;10(4):250-254. doi:10.1177/1758573217724080
88. Aflatooni JO, Meeks BD, Froehle AW, Bonner KF. Biceps tenotomy versus tenodesis: patient-reported outcomes and satisfaction. *J Orthop Surg Res*. Feb 18 2020;15(1):56. doi:10.1186/s13018-020-1581-3
89. MacDonald P, Verhulst F, McRae S, et al. Biceps Tenodesis Versus Tenotomy in the Treatment of Lesions of the Long Head of the Biceps Tendon in Patients Undergoing Arthroscopic Shoulder Surgery: A Prospective Double-Blinded Randomized Controlled Trial. *Am J Sports Med*. May 2020;48(6):1439-1449. doi:10.1177/0363546520912212
90. Chalmers PN, Verma NN. Proximal Biceps in Overhead Athletes. *Clin Sports Med*. Jan 2016;35(1):163-79. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2015.08.009
91. Creech MJ, Yeung M, Denkers M, Simunovic N, Athwal GS, Ayeni OR. Surgical indications for long head biceps tenodesis: a systematic review. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. Jul 2016;24(7):2156-66. doi:10.1007/s00167-014-3383-9
92. Kanbe K, Chiba J, Inoue Y, Taguchi M, Iwamatsu A. Analysis of clinical factors related to the efficacy of shoulder arthroscopic synovectomy plus capsular release in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol*. Apr 2015;25(3):451-5. doi:10.1007/s00590-014-1570-5

93. Familiari F, Gonzalez-Zapata A, Iannò B, Galasso O, Gasparini G, McFarland EG. Is acromioplasty necessary in the setting of full-thickness rotator cuff tears? A systematic review. *J Orthop Traumatol*. Sep 2015;16(3):167-74. doi:10.1007/s10195-015-0353-z
94. Frank JM, Chahal J, Frank RM, Cole BJ, Verma NN, Romeo AA. The role of acromioplasty for rotator cuff problems. *Orthop Clin North Am*. Apr 2014;45(2):219-24. doi:10.1016/j.ocl.2013.12.003
95. Goutallier D, Postel JM, Bernageau J, Lavau L, Voisin MC. Fatty muscle degeneration in cuff ruptures. Pre- and postoperative evaluation by CT scan. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Jul 1994;(304):78-83.
96. Goutallier D, Postel JM, Gleyze P, Leguilloux P, Van Driessche S. Influence of cuff muscle fatty degeneration on anatomic and functional outcomes after simple suture of full-thickness tears. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. Nov-Dec 2003;12(6):550-4. doi:10.1016/s1058-2746(03)00211-8
97. Lippe J, Spang JT, Leger RR, Arciero RA, Mazzocca AD, Shea KP. Inter-rater agreement of the Goutallier, Patte, and Warner classification scores using preoperative magnetic resonance imaging in patients with rotator cuff tears. *Arthroscopy*. Feb 2012;28(2):154-9. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2011.07.016
98. Schiefer M, Mendonça R, Magnanini MM, et al. Intraobserver and interobserver agreement of Goutallier classification applied to magnetic resonance images. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. Aug 2015;24(8):1314-21. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2015.02.011
99. Hamada K, Fukuda H, Mikasa M, Kobayashi Y. Roentgenographic findings in massive rotator cuff tears. A long-term observation. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. May 1990;(254):92-6.
100. Chahal J, Mall N, MacDonald PB, et al. The role of subacromial decompression in patients undergoing arthroscopic repair of full-thickness tears of the rotator cuff: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arthroscopy*. May 2012;28(5):720-7. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2011.11.022

## **ADDITIONAL RESOURCES**

1. ~~1.~~ Harris JD, Frank JM, Jordan MA, et al. Return to sport following shoulder surgery in the elite pitcher: a systematic review. *Sports Health*. Jul 2013;5(4):367-76. doi:10.1177/1941738113482673
2. Melis B, DeFranco MJ, Chuinard C, Walch G. Natural history of fatty infiltration and atrophy of the supraspinatus muscle in rotator cuff tears. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Jun 2010;468(6):1498-505. doi:10.1007/s11999-009-1207-x
3. Paavola M, Malmivaara A, Taimela S, et al. Subacromial decompression versus diagnostic arthroscopy for shoulder impingement: randomised, placebo surgery controlled clinical trial. *BMJ*. Jul 19 2018;362:k2860. doi:10.1136/bmj.k2860
4. Saltzman BM, Jain A, Campbell KA, et al. Does the Use of Platelet-Rich Plasma at the Time of Surgery Improve Clinical Outcomes in Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair When Compared With Control Cohorts? A Systematic Review of Meta-analyses. *Arthroscopy*. May 2016;32(5):906-18. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2015.10.007
5. Strauss EJ, Barker JU, McGill K, Verma NN. The evaluation and management of failed distal clavicle excision. *Sports Med Arthrosc Rev*. Sep 2010;18(3):213-9. doi:10.1097/JSA.0b013e3181e892da

6. Werner BC, Brockmeier SF, Miller MD. Etiology, Diagnosis, and Management of Failed SLAP Repair. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* Sep 2014;22(9):554-65. doi:10.5435/jaaos-22-09-554
7. Yang JS, Mehran N, Mazzocca AD, Pearl ML, Chen VW, Arciero RA. Remplissage Versus Modified Latarjet for Off-Track Hill-Sachs Lesions With Subcritical Glenoid Bone Loss. *Am J Sports Med.* Jul 2018;46(8):1885-1891. doi:10.1177/0363546518767850

**Reviewed / Approved by NIA Clinical Guideline Committee**

### **GENERAL INFORMATION**

It is an expectation that all patients receive care/services from a licensed clinician. All appropriate supporting documentation, including recent pertinent office visit notes, laboratory data, and results of any special testing must be provided. If applicable: All prior relevant imaging results and the reason that alternative imaging cannot be performed must be included in the documentation submitted.

**Disclaimer:** Magellan Healthcare service authorization policies do not constitute medical advice and are not intended to govern or otherwise influence the practice of medicine. These policies are not meant to supplant your normal procedures, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and/or care plans for your patients. Your professional judgement must be exercised and followed in all respects with regard to the treatment and care of your patients. These policies apply to all Magellan Healthcare subsidiaries including, but not limited to, National Imaging Associates (“Magellan”). The policies constitute only the reimbursement and coverage guidelines of Magellan. Coverage for services varies for individual members in accordance with the terms and conditions of applicable Certificates of Coverage, Summary Plan Descriptions, or contracts with governing regulatory agencies. Magellan reserves the right to review and update the guidelines at its sole discretion. Notice of such changes, if necessary, shall be provided in accordance with the terms and conditions of provider agreements and any applicable laws or regulations.